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 News from the 

Stow 

Historical 

Society 
 

 

January 20, 2022 

 

In this issue:   

• Viewing Stow through the Annual Town Reports 1846-1930 

• Celebrating Stow’s Women, published by the SHS in April of 2021 

• SHS is seeking individuals to help facilitate planning, programming, and writing. 

------------------------------------------------------------------ 

 

Stow’s Annual Town Reports 1846 - 1930 
 

Stow’s early Town Reports give the readers of the 21st century a clear overview of town 

life.  Some citizens had their reports leather bound, as did Stow’s illustrious Henry Gates.   

 

Early issues were assembled with binding threads.   

 

In the mid-1800s there were separate publications 

from the Stow Overseers of the Poor, the Stow 

School Committee, and from the Stow Receipts 

and Expenditures. Any of these topics would be 

fascinating research projects.   
 

 

 

 

By 1896 the Annual Town Reports were mailed 

to Stow residents.   

A newsletter for all friends of Stow history.  

Please feel free to pass it along to others who might be interested! 
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The 1846 and 1847 Town Reports noted who rang the church bells rang for 

deaths, funerals, and Town Meeting and how much they were paid.  Tolling the bell 

was a common New England tradition.  The bell was in the fourth Meeting House, 

built in 1827 on the present site of First Parish Church, which burned in 1847.   

 

The 1846 Town Report stated that “Wm. Withington supertended and built      

West Acton Rd.”  He completed the project in 1847. 
 

    In 1848 Stow built a new meeting house on the 

land of Francis Conant.  On December 27, 1847, the 

Town Meeting voted to build a “Town House.”   

    Every person and organization using the Town 

Hall paid a fee, including the Selectmen.  

    First Parish Church was also built in 1848.  

 

    In 1849 the wall was built around the burial ground (Lower Village 

Cemetery).   

    John W. Lawrence was paid to care for the Town Hall.  He lived just 

a short distance down Gleasondale Road, where he had a home and 

Woodworking Shop. 

    T. Walcott built the hearse house and       

gates at the burial ground. 

John Brown was paid to build the 

horse-drawn hearse in 1850. 
 

 

 
1851 Stow Receipts and Expenditures, pages 4 and 5 

 

 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Original setting of Hearse House, 

Sudbury, MA 

http://www.sudbury01776.org/tour3/tour_

12.html 

 
Boxborough, MA hearse, 1880’s 

https://www.boxborough-ma.gov/gallery.aspx?PID=19  

Road and 

bridge work 

was 1/3 of 

the town 

budget. 
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om/fpcstowacton/photos  

 

http://www.sudbury01776.org/tour3/tour_12.html
http://www.sudbury01776.org/tour3/tour_12.html
https://www.boxborough-ma.gov/gallery.aspx?PID=19
https://www.facebook.com/fpcstowacton/photos
https://www.facebook.com/fpcstowacton/photos
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    The Civil War years brought heavy expenses for Stow to shoulder.  In 1861 the town paid 

  

$572.52 for military expenses for Stow’s soldiers 

 $13137 for citizens for practicing drilling 

 $789.65 for aid to military families 

 

    $1,886.90 was distributed to all military families in 1862.  State reimbursement was $1,630.40. 

 

    By 1864 Stow borrowed $5,951.66 from twenty 

Stow citizens, ranging from $100 to $1,200.   

    By February of 1865 the indebtedness grew to 

$8,151.66, as more money was borrowed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    March 1, 1867, Stow owed twenty citizens interest at the rate of six per cent. per annum.  The amount 

borrowed by $10,130.00. 

Stow applied for partial state 

reimbursement 

In 1852 C. Tower was paid 

“for Gate, Lock, and Irons for 

Pound.”  A pound was a sturdy 

enclosure to restrain wandering 

animals, such as swine, cows, oxen, 

and horses.  A pound on the land 

where Pilot Grove School was built 

was torn down in 1928.  In 1966 

the school, which is  

on Crescent Street,  

was remodeled into  

town offices and  

later into the police  

station.  Today it is a private home. 

 

In 1859 the Town of Stow began licensing and 

registering dogs.  A dog law was printed. 

 

1875 
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    The Town Report for the year ending March 1, 1870, included the following statement. 
 

SELECTMEN’S REPORT:  Our Highways are not in good condition, and we think are not kept up well enough 

for the benefit of the town.  Owing to the price of labor, we do not get much, if any more work done, than 

at the old price with a small grant, while travel is largely on the increase.  We therefore recommend an 

increase of grant for Highways.  (page 6) 

 

 

    On May 24, 1871, the Town of Stow voted to accept the offer of Colonel 

Elijah Hale ($5,000), Henry Brooks, Esq. ($100), and Hon. John W. Brooks 

($1,000) towards “the creation of a High School fund.” (after page 20, 1871 Town Report) 

 

    In 1872 the Hay Scales were purchased for the front of the Town Hall.    
 

 
 

 

 

Elephalet Tenney’s 

oxen and Arthur 

Rice’s horse were 

bringing a load of 

hay to be weighted 

at the hay scales. 

 

Note the hay was 

on a sled and the 

power lines in the 

background. 

 

 

Hay 

Scales 

1886 Hale High School 
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In 1872 there was a Town Meeting warrant article to pay for the care and 

repair of the public clock, which passed.  In 1869 Mrs. Elijah Hale and Mrs. 

Moses Whitney gave the First Parish Church its clock tower.  Each year 

thereafter there was an article before the Town Meeting to care for the clock. 

 
https://www.facebook.com/fpcstowacton/photos  

 

 

In 1874 at the age of 26 Stow’s Town Hall was in need for major repairs.  At the same time Stow 

continued to borrow money for town citizens. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://www.facebook.com/fpcstowacton/photos
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Stow’s oldest surviving public building is West School on Harvard Road.  The 1825 brick structure 

sits on a granite foundation which goes back to at least 1789, when Stow recorded that the Town “had 

five school houses in five different school districts.” (Childs, page 3) 

 

 

 

 

 

1876 examples from Valuation of Property and Taxes, in the Town of Stow are below. 
 

The Gleason’s of Gleasondale Mills, known as B.W. Gleason & sons in 1876. 
 

 
 

Colonel Elijah Hale (1788, Stow-1879, Stow, MA) “He was, for a number of years, in 

trade with Cranston & Hale at Feltonville (Hudson).  He was also associated with Joel 

Cranston, Esq, in building up the manufacturing village of Rock Bottom in Stow. In 1825 he 

removed to Stow, where he has been one of the prominent men in the town and church.” 

(Charles Hudson’s History of Marlborough, p. 449,1862) (1871 Town Report, pages 78-83) 

  

 

West School, 

October 27, 1876 

 

January 2022 

Watch throughout 2022 for the 

six changing wreaths with      

West School’s story on the door. 

Benjamin W. Gleason 

1806-1884 
 

Alfred D. Gleason 

1846-1914 
 

Charles W. Gleason 

1841-1914 
 

Stillman A. Gleason 

1843-1888 
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Henry Gates (1825, Stow-1906, Stow) was a descendent of Thomas Gates, one of twelve first 

proprietors of the Planation of Pompositticut in 1681.  He was a graduate of West School, a 

wheelwright by trade, a farmer, a Stow Town Clerk for 37 years, an assessor for 18 years, a selectman, 

a tax collector, a trustee for the Hale High School Fund, and a trustee for the 1903 Randall Fund. 
 

 
   

  

Susan Ann Gates Peck (1841, Stow-1922, Alabama) was a descendent of Thomas 

Gates, one of twelve first proprietors of the Planation of Pompositticut in 1681.  Susan was a 

graduate of West School.  She inherited the farm from her parents, John Gates 4th and Susan 

W. Gates.  Widowed in 1873 with three chidren, she had tentant farmers keep the farm 

running and provide a small amount of income.  She was a political person and was among 

the seven Stow women who registered for the 1895 non-binding referendum to allow women 

to vote in municipal elections.  The vote did not pass. 

 
 

 

John Witt Randall (1813-1892) was one of five children, the only son, of Dr. John and 

Elizabeth Wells Randall of Boston.  He grew up on the family farm in Stow.  He earned three 

degrees at Harvard but preferred a more solitary life.  He amassed an invaluable art collection.  He 

prepared no will. Belinda, his surviving sister, inherited his estate.  She followed his wishes and 

bequeathed to Stow a gift of $55,000:  $25,000 for the construction of a town library, $20,000 for 

general purposes, and $10,000 for relief of the worthy poor.  The Randall Library was constructed 

in 1893 and dedicated in February 1894. 
 

 
 

 

Jonas Warren (1794, Stow-1882, Stow) His father, Abijah, bought and established 

the Pilot Grove Farm in 1782.  Jonas is the great, great grandfather of Skip Warren. 

Francis Worland Warren (1819, Stow-1896, Stow) Francis, the son of Jonas, 

and family lived at the farm and worked the farm in 1876.  Francis was the great 

grandfather of Skip Warren.   

 

*For further information about Pilot Grove Farm watch Stow Oral History:  Talk given 

on June 28, 2014 at the West School House Museum by Skip Warren.   https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=yZAVH-

7dpXY&ab_channel=StowTV  

 

 

William and Susan Gates Peck, 

pre-1873 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=yZAVH-7dpXY&ab_channel=StowTV
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=yZAVH-7dpXY&ab_channel=StowTV
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    In 1885 Samuel A. Lawrence took over the care of the Town Hall 

from his father, John W. Lawrence.  John had been the Town Hall 

steward for 37 years.  Samuel, a Civil War veteran, married Susan 

Proctor, a Stow school teacher, when he was home on furlough in 

1864.  Susan Lawrence would be appointed Stow’s first librarian. 

 

 

 

On May 24, 1892, the Town of Stow received $55,000 from 

the estate of John W. Randall to be divided into three 

separate funds:  $20,000 for a general fund,  

$10,000 to assist the deserving poor, and     

$25,000 for a public library and books.  

 

 

1893, Feb. 22  

Town Warrant 

 

 

 

 

 

The Lawrence Homestead at 27 Gleasondale Road, 1897 

1893 Town Report, pages 24 and 25 

1894 Town Report –  

Randall Library Building Costs, pages 24 -26 

 

The two 1883 marble tablets 

honoring those who died in service 

during the American Revolution  

and the Civil War were moved 

 from the Town Hall to the outside 

entrance of the Randall Library.  
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         Stow Town Reports, Excerpts                            

from Susan Lawrence’s library summaries. 

 

 

 

February 24, 1894, the Randall 

Library was dedicated with 

Susan M. Lawrence as librarian.  

She held this position for 25 

years, submitting yearly a 

detailed Librarian’s Report to 

the Annual Town Reports. 

    Susan M. Proctor Lawrence (1846-1927) began teaching at West 

School at the age of 16.  She taught in Stow school’s for over 25 years. 
 

    In 1895 she was among Stow’s seven influential women who 

registered to vote registered for the 1895 non-binding referendum to 

allow women to vote in municipal elections.  In 1920 Susan registered 

to be among Stow’s 171 women who voted in a presidential election. 

 

    Her obituary in the Hudson New-Enterprise, July 1927 stated: 

“She was a woman of sterling worth and was for many years a 

prominent factor in the education, social and religious life of the town, 

thoroughly posted in its history and interested in its welfare.” 

April 28, 1894, the Town Meeting 

appropriated $3000 for an addition to 

and remodeling of the town hall. 

 

Hudson News-Enterprise 

 

August 4, 1894 

July 4, 1894 

June 23, 1894 

1901, page 54 

1904, page 50 

1912, page 89 1
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In 1915 (page 76) the library 

adjusted its hours. 

 

 

 

Four of the Susan Lawrence’s excerpts on page 9 encouraged the community to donate their historical 

relics and documents.  The Town of Stow is greatly indebted to her foresight and vision that at the turn 

of the 20th century public spirted citizens must think about the future generations and donate to the 

town manuscripts and relics (artifacts) to be carefully guarded. 

 

In 1901 the trustees had purchased a cabinet “for the preservation of historic relics.”  Susan had a 

vision that Stow would have “a Memorial room as many of the towns about us have done.” (1904) 

 

Susan Lawrence, who retired in 1919 to care for her ill daughter, lived to see a “Memorial Room” 

added to the Randall Library in 1926. 

 

1923-1930 

The Whitney siblings, Cyrus, James, Adeline, and Martha, who owned the family’s Old Gates Whitney 

Homestead and the Whitney Homestead, all bequeathed substantial funding to the Town of Stow. 

 

 

An Article in each will bequeathed:  “…to the Randall 

Library in the Town of Stow, Massachusetts to be used in building and  

furnishing a suitable addition to the library for the purpose of housing and  

preserving historical works.” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The barge 

ca. 1910-1915 

The car 

1903 

Gates Whitney (old) Homestead Stereograph 

Civil War era – 27 Whitney Road 

Whitney Homestead 

485 Great Road 

The Whitney Family 

Martha, Adeline, Mary (James’ wife) 

James, Cyrus 

  

 

1923 James Whitney’ will bequeathed $3000 to the library addition, $500 for a memorial for Edwin Whitney, Esq. for 

his years as the school superintendent, $2,000 for improvement of the Central Common, and gave the town a parcel 

land on the eastern side of Lower Village Cemetery. (1924 Town Report, page 6) 
 

1924 Martha Whitney’s will bequeathed $5,000 to the library addition. (1925 Town Report, page 44) 
 

1927 Cyrus Whitney’s will bequeathed – see page 11 
 

1928 Adeline Whitney’s will bequeathed $5,000 to the library addition, the “Moses Whitney home farm in said Stow 

to be used by said town for some appropriate public use, or if sold by said town, the proceeds thereof to be used in or 

in connection with the building a new town hall…” (1931 Town Report, page 23, Feb 9, 1931, Town Meeting) 
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1930 Randall Library Trustees page 81 and 82 

There’s enough money for two historical rooms. 

 

 

The Whitney Historical Room 

was completed in 1926. 

In 1927 Cyrus H. Whitney’s will bequeathed $10,000       

to fund organizations in Stow, $5,000 of which went       

to the addition to the Randall Library. 
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November 25, 1930 

 
 

Data from the Town of Stow files 
 

     “November 1930 legal proceedings in the Supreme Judicial Court secured a change in the use of income of 

the legacies received from the estates of Adeline Whitney and Cyrus H. Whitney, so that the same may be 

used for the purchase of books for library circulation and preserving historical works.” 

 

James F. Whitney legacy 
1925     $026.93  book rack 

 $068.48 brass railing installed along the entry steps.  It is stored in the Randall Library attic. 

1926     $750.65  toward the completion of the Whitney Historical Room 

1927     $480.00  balance on contract for the addition 

1929     $128.82  for the walk 

1931     $244.40  for two rugs and andirons 

1932     $035.00  for library table 

1937   $1,280.29 to finish the attic floor for a reference room 

1950 $079.20 for Reggie Nichols 

1970   $1,382.20 for library consultant, Jack Bryant 

 

1993 Investment Reports for the Whitney Funds, the last time they were reported separately 

 

 

 

Balance:  1/1/93 Balance: 12/31/93 
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The Stow Historical Society’s newest book was published in April 2021. 

 

The SHS continues to look forward to the 

time when in-person programming will be 

an actuality to truly celebrate Stow’s 

women in 1920 who registered to vote. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

The Stow Historical Society encourages interested Stow residents  

to join our core group to help facilitate planning, programming, and writing. 

 

The SHS is seeking a treasurer and a webmaster. 

In 1971 Laurie Kattelle drew this sketch 

of the Whitney Historical Room 

for the brochure celebrating the 

Stow Historical Society’s 10th Anniversary. 

Does anyone have a photo of this room 

before the Common Road addition was built 

in 1975? 

Benefactors 

who enriched the Town of Stow 
 

1848 Town Meeting voters to build a Town Hall 
 

1871 The Hale High School fund:  

Colonel Elijah Hale ($5,000), 

Henry Brooks, Esq. ($100),       

Hon. John W. Brooks ($1,000)  

 

1892 Miss Belinda Randall who carried out the 

expressed wishes of her brother, John Witt 

Randall to donate $25,000 for the 

construction of the Randall Memorial 

Library. 

 

1924 -1928   James Francis Whitney 

  Martha Gates Whitney 

  Cyrus Henry Whitney 

  Adeline Whitney 

 They collectively donated $18,000 to build 

the historical room addition to the library. 

Besides the Whitney Historical Room their 

legacy continues in investment funds for 

the library. 

 

 

This limited-edition, 146-page book is printed 

in color and priced at $20 – cash or check made 

out to the Stow Historical Society.  Reply to 

this email or to info@stowhistoricalsociety.org.                           

The books are also for sale at the Stow COA 

Gift Shop and the Randall Library. 

Watch for the next 

issue of Stow through 

Town Reports. 

mailto:info@stowhistoricalsociety.org

